The Relationship Between the Information Disclosure and the Firms' Risk Exposure:

A Canadian Study

By

Yijun Wang

A research project submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Finance

Saint Mary's University

Copyright Justin Otherstudent 2013

Written for MFIN 6692 under the direction of Dr. Colin Dodds

Approved: <u>Dr. Colin Dodds</u>

Faculty Advisor

Approved: Dr. Francis Boabang

MFIN Director

Date: September 3, 2013

Acknowledgements

I am grateful for the assistance, advice and guidance from all the Master of Finance professors. Specially, I would like to appreciate Dr. Colin Dodds and Dr. Francis Boabang for all their patience and comments in completing this project. I also thank my parents and friends for their support and encouragement.

Abstract

The Relationship Between the Information Disclosure and the Firms' Risk Exposure:

Evidence from companies listed in the Toronto Stock

Exchange

By Yijun Wang

This paper utilizes an event-study in order to investigate the relationship between information disclosure and firms' risk exposure. 50 companies listed on the Toronto Exchange Stock as the samples are drawn from the whole Financial Service industry over 3 years from 2009 to 2011. By employing the disclosure index and calculating the Z-score for individual company, we analyze the characteristic of the relationship and several possibly potential causes.

The results of T-test indicate that information disclosure is significantly related to the firms' risk exposure. What is more, strategic and non-financial information is positively associated with risk exposure. While financial information has not significant impact on the risk exposure.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	ii
Abstract	ii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Table	V
Chapter 1	1
Introduction	1
Chapter 2	
Literature review and Hypotheses	3
2.1 Literature review	3
2.2 Hypotheses	6
2.2.1 Information disclosure and risk exposure	<i>6</i>
2.2.2 Strategic information	<i>6</i>
2.2.3 Financial and non-financial information	
Chapter 3	8
Research methodology	8
3.1 Sample selection	8
3.2 Index and variables	g
3.2.1 Disclosure index	g
3.2.2 Z-score	11
3.2.3 Variables	12
Chapter 4	16
Results and analysis	16
4.1. Empirical results of the tests (H1-H4)	16
4.1.1. Descriptive statistics	16
4.1.2. Multivariate analysis	22
Chapter 5	30
Conclusions and Recommendations	30
References	32
Appendix A. Voluntary disclosure items list	37

List of Table

Table 3.1: Explanations of dependent and independent variable	14
Table 4.1: Summary statistics for the RISK & VOLUNTARY	
DISCLOSURE model	18
Panel A: Descriptive statistics for 146 observations	18
Panel B: Correlation matrix	21
Table 4.2: Regression results of the relationship model	24
Panel A: the relationship between risk exposure and total	
information disclosure	24
Panel B: the relationship between risk exposure and	
strategic information disclosure	25
Panel C: the relationship between risk exposure and	
non-financial information disclosure	26
Panel D: the relationship between risk exposure and financial	
information disclosure	28

Chapter 1

Introduction

After the financial crisis, risk management has become an increasingly important consideration for firms. Corporate governance has focused on the enterprise risk management (ERM) approach to improve performance.

Generally, companies suffer from both internal and external risk. Operating risk, market risk, credit risk, and equity risk all impact on companies. However, for the listed companies, they have to disclose their information to the public so that their shareholders, debt holders and potential investors will have information to make informed decisions. Then the question that arises is whether the more information that is disclosed to the public, will this voluntary information lead to a reduction in market risk and improve corporate givernance.

A variety of articles have investigated and studied the relationship between risk information disclosure and enterprise risk management on corporate governance. This paper expects to study the relationship between information disclosure and firms' risk exposure. Instead of the risk information, we focus on financial information, nonfinancial information, and strategy

information in terms of the disclosure index referred in their work on China. (Kun et al., 2008)

Finally, we will test the relationships within the information related to the risk exposure.

Chapter 2 reviews the literature articles and then, four hypotheses for the project are presented. Chapter 3 introduces briefly the methodologies used in the project and the sources of data. The results and analysis are covered in Chapter 4. Finally, Chapter 5 provides a summary of this report.

Chapter 2

Literature review and Hypotheses

2.1 Literature review

The risks involved in business have an essential impact on the life of the enterprise. At the extreme, serious risk may result in bankruptcy. Therefore, for a firm, enterprise risk management can play a key role.

An optimal enterprise risk management system is a comprehensive process that needs to consider a number of factors such as operational strategies inside the firm, market environment outside the firm, employment, liquidity and credit analysis. In addition, Abrams et al. (2007) pointed that this requires information collection and risk assessment. Consequently, there is a considerable relationship between the risk exposure and information of the firm.

In terms of the risk, an individual company will suffer several kinds such as operating, market, credit, and liquidity. However, the biggest risk is bankruptcy, which results in the ending of a firm and little opportunity to recovery.

Obaid (2011) viewed the information about the Z-score developed by Altman in 1968. It said that Z-score is a discriminate and predictive model to measure the distance to default of manufacturing companies. Initially, five ratios

with the certain weights were included in the model, but in the current proposed version and adjustment, the fifth ratio (sales/total assets) has been omitted since it gives a high value for non-manufacturing companies. As a result, the modified model consists of four re-assigned variables with respect to new weights. It is assumed that the default possibility or bankruptcy will happen if a Z-score is below 1.10 (Altman, 1968).

To manage both the quantitative and qualitative corporate financial disclosures, disclosure strategies should consider both the internal and external elements. It means that the disclosure decisions should include varied factors such as agency costs (Leftwich et al., 1981), information asymmetries (Hughes, 1989), disclosure related costs (Ali et al., 1994), and litigation costs (Skinner, 1994). Since the enterprise risk management is a part of the aspect belonging to the corporate governance, Christopher et al. (2010) claimed that the information environment should receive considerable attention both in determining the extent of the agency problems and in designing the mechanisms to allay these conflicts among the corporate constituencies.

In this study, we focus on the information asymmetry and a disclosure index is employed to measure the information asymmetry/signaling, which indicates the level of the information disclosure. Grossman (1981) and Spence (1973)

suggest that voluntary disclosure is an appropriate method to release information asymmetry problems, such as moral hazard and adverse selection.

This paper aims to study the function of the information disclosure in the firm's risk exposure, so a classification for the information is required. A similar to the approach mentioned by Kun et al. (2008) detailing three kinds of information is identified: strategic information, financial information, and non-financial information.

Financial information can be viewed from the financial statements in the company's annual report and according to the accounting issues to identify the quality and quantity of the financial information. The actual non-financial information that a business review should unfold, when relevant, contains certain wide issues, the corresponding policies and the effectiveness of those policies. For instance, the range of specified issues comprises: environmental matters, company employees, supplier relationships, and social and community matters. In principle, then, companies might be expected to report on a broad range of social and environmental (Henriques et al., 2010).

2.2 Hypotheses

2.2.1 Information disclosure and risk exposure

Before classifying the information into three separate subsets, we study the entire information disclosure that will have an impact on the firm's risk exposure. Wang et al. (2008) studied the relationship between information disclosure and the cost of debt. According to the same logic and thinking, our investigation substitutes risk for cost of debt. Furthermore, the risk is mainly identified by the bankruptcy risk

H1: The extent of voluntary disclosure for listed companies is related to the firms' risk exposure.

2.2.2 Strategic information

In the whole voluntary information disclosure lists, although strategic occupies a little proportion, it also should be considered since business strategy indicates the direction for the firm in the future. However, whether the more strategic information is declared to the public, the more risk the firm will undertake or the converse is important to determine.

H2: The extent of risk exposure in the listed companies increases with higher proportion of strategic information disclosure.

2.2.3 Financial and non-financial information

Financial information is used to suggest the enterprise capital movement status and characteristics of the economic information. It combines with other material but in priority, it is the monetary data that is key. In contrast, non-financial information is the information material that shows the direct or indirect contact with the producing and operating activities of enterprises in the form of non-financial information material, such as background information of a firm, the strategic objectives, business planning, business performance or activities index, management discussion, forward information, sensitivity analysis for risk and all that.

I would like to study whether there are the different effects on the firm's risk exposure with respect to the two kinds of information or which kind of information is more significant associated with the firm's risk exposure.

H3: The extent of risk exposure in the listed companies increases with higher proportion of financial information disclosure.

H4: The extent of risk exposure in the listed companies increases with higher proportion of non-financial information disclosure.

Chapter 3

Research methodology

I will employ the new methodology of the disclosure index and corporate governance index to operate my project. By reading the annual reports of every company in the sample over the period from 2009 to 2011 and ranking the predetermined lists of relevant items about the voluntary information disclosure. Finally, the score of strategic, financial, non-financial information and the total information can be computed by the disclosure indices. At the same time, the risk exposure is represented by the bankruptcy risk, which is measured by the Z-score. The specific contents of the items listed about voluntary information disclosure are presented in Appendix I.

A STATA Software is used with an appropriate model to find their coefficients respectively and explore their relationship with the correlation coefficient. After an analysis of the results, I can come to the conclusions for the hypotheses

3.1 Sample selection

My study contains all of the 50 companies listed in the Toronto Stock

Exchange from the sector of financial services and all the companies are

selected randomly from the website:

http://www.tmx.com/TMX/HttpController?GetPage=ListedCompaniesViewPage
&SearchCriteria=Name&SearchKeyword=Z&SearchType=StartWith&Page=1&
SearchIsMarket=Yes&Market=T&Language=en

After that, the required elements associated with the voluntary information disclosure and Z-score are collected from each company's annual report running a period of three years from 2009 to 2011. Additionally, disclosure information scores (strategic, financial and non-financial information) are considered as the independent variables and Z-score is the only one dependent variable. I also add other control variables and test variables, the specific illustration of which will be provided in the next part.

The market price used to compute the market value of the individual company on the public day of annual report, comes from the website http://www.nasdaq.com and a search of the historical prices.

3.2 Index and variables

3.2.1 Disclosure index

Since the level of information disclosure cannot be measure a directly,

Cooke and Wallace (1989) generated a suitable proxy such as an index of

disclosure that can be employed to examine the extent of information disclosed

by companies. Our study also applies this method to measure the extent of voluntary disclosure by companies. We use the same steps as the article written by Kun et al. (2008) and there are mainly two steps to develop the disclosure index as follows: (1) based on the disclosure index used in earlier studies (Cooke, 1989) a preliminary list of 93 items was generated; (2) Fourteen items were dropped from the list because they were mandatory disclosure requirements so that 89 items associated with voluntary information were generated.

After establishing the disclosure index, a scoring sheet was developed to assess the extent of voluntary disclosure. Depending on these items, I check whether they are present or absent in company's annual report and score 1 or 0. Then repeat the work and compute the marks as a result. For instance, if a company disclosed an item of information included in the index, it received a score of 1, and 0 if it is not disclosed (see Cooke, 1989, p. 182). Furthermore, based on the model developed by Meek et al. (1995), the voluntary disclosure items are further classified into (1) strategic, (2) non-financial, and (3) financial information.

Another thing should be emphasized is that the disclosure index is unweighted. In other words, we assume that each item of disclosure is as important as others Gray et al.(1995) and Cooke (1989, p. 182) claimed that

unweighted indices are a reasonable research approach in terms of all users of corporate annual reports.

3.2.2 **Z-score**

A Z-score is a discriminate and predictive model developed by Altman in 1968 to measure the distance to default of manufacturing companies.

$$Z = 1.2X_1 + 1.4X_2 + 3.3X_3 + 0.6X_4 + 0.999X_5$$
 (3.1)

In this equation, five ratios are involved and the descriptions of the elements are as follows:

Altman's Z-Score

X1: Working Capital /Total Assets ×1.2

X2: Retained Earnings / Total Assets ×1.4

X3: EBIT / Total Assets ×3.3

X4: Market Value of Equity / Book Value of Total Liabilities ×0.6

X5: Sales / Total Asset x 0.999

The model including five ratios is appropriate for the listed companies.

The company will be bankruptcy if the value of Z-score below 1.8 and it will be

z-score, the better situation the company runs. Meanwhile, an adjusted model, which consists of four ratios, is suitable for the non-listed companies, changes the weights and like that:

$$Z = 1.0X3 + 6.56X1 + 3.26X2 + 0.72X4$$
 (3.2)

3.2.3 Variables

To test the Hypotheses 1 to 4, I will draw support with the STATA Software to perform four regressions based on the following model:

$$RISK = DSCORE + MKTVAL + LEV + ROA + ROE + COD + EPS + e.$$
 (3.3)

This model can be separated into three subsets since the information consists of strategic, financial, and non-financial ones. The models are presented as follows, respectively:

RISK = TSCORE + MKTVAL + LEV + ROA+ROE + COD+EPS + e.

RISK = SSCORE + MKTVAL + LEV + ROA+ROE + COD+EPS + e.

RISK = FSCORE + MKTVAL + LEV + ROA+ROE + COD+EPS + e.

RISK = NFSCORE + MKTVAL + LEV + ROA+ROE + COD+EPS + e.

In these equations, market value and leverage are two control variables where Market value (MKTVAL) is a control variable for firm size in the model. A large amount of disclosure studies have discovered that firm size is a vital element in

the declaring volatility associated with the degree of disclosed information by corporate. Academicians approve a positive relationship between firm size and voluntary disclosure in the setting of U.S. (Firth, 1979), Swedish (Cooke, 1989), Malaysia (Hossain et al., 1994) and Japanese firms (Cooke, 1991), as well as for firms listed on multiple exchanges (Meek et al., 1995). Adding this variable, I expect to examine whether the same relationship applies for my study.

Leverage (LEV) is another control variable in the model. Demonstrably, as the increased potential for wealth transfers from debt holders to shareholders and managers, agency costs, and hence disclosure, will increase for firms that own correspondingly more debt (Jensen & Meckling, 1976). However, research results on this relation are in dispute. Sengupta (1998) declared that U.S. companies with high analyst disclosure quality evaluations would not like to expense more cost in issuing debt. Identically, Meek et al. (1995) found an observable, negative relationship between leverage and voluntary disclosure for U.S., U.K., and continental European multinationals.

Conversely, other study findings refuted critically. Bradbury (1992) suggested a dramatically positive relationship between leverage and disclosure for New Zealand firms. Chow and Wong-Boren (1987), in contrast, presented that there is no relationship between leverage and disclosure in their sample of Mexican firms. Since the relationship between leverage and disclosure

information is disputable, I am interested in explore it in my model.

The following table (Table 3.1) provides an additional illustration for the other variables in the model, which aims to examine the hypotheses more exactly and study the concerned relationship more efficiently.

Table 3.1

Explanations of dependent and independent variable

Dependent variables	
Risk Exposure (RISK)	Z-score

Control variables	
Firm size (MKTVAL)	Log of the companies' total assets
Leverage (LEV)	Ratio of total debt to owners' equity

Independent variables	
Return on asset (ROA)	Net income divided by the total asset
Cost of debt (COD)	Interest expenses divided by total debts
Return on equity (ROE)	Net income divided by the shareholders' equity
Earnings per share	Net income divided by the number of share
(EPS)	14

Test variables	
DSCORE	Proportion of the actual score allocated to a
	company to the maximum possible score applied
SSCORE	Proportion of the actual strategic disclosure score
	allocated to a company to the maximum possible
	score applied
NFSCORE	Proportion of the actual non-financial disclosure
	score allocated to a company to the maximum
	possible score applied
FSCORE	Proportion of the actual financial disclosure score
	allocated to a company to the maximum possible
	score applied

Chapter 4

Results and analysis

4.1. Empirical results of the tests (H1-H4)

4.1.1. Descriptive statistics

Originally, there were 150 observations needing to be tested in the investigation. However, four of them are outliers that will mislead the results.

Therefore, I remove these and study the remaining 146 objectives

Panel A of Table 4.1 represents descriptive statistics for the variables in the analysis. As definite statement, if the value of *Z*-score is higher than 2.99, then the firm is safe and far from bankruptcy. In contract, as the value of *Z*-score is less than 1.8, the firm is dangerous in the bankruptcy and the senior management have to consider the method to recover the life of the company or end with liquidate. The 'grey area' indicates the value within the range from 1.8 to 2.99, in which the leadership of the company should pay more attention to causes resulted to the risks and take actions to relieve the conflict.

Viewing the table, we can find that the mean of the Z-score is 3.77, which exceeds 2.99, so on average the 49 firms are safe and have no trouble with bankruptcy. Nevertheless, the standard deviation is the second highest, 9.97. It

indicates that several firms with the high Z-score offset the difference arise from the firms with the low Z-score. In the actual data, some firms' Z-score is even negative and has the seriously trouble with bankruptcy.

In terms of the information disclosure, the total scores of voluntary information disclosure (DSCORE) items is seventy-eight. It consists of eight scores of strategic information (SSCORE), forty-three scores of non-financial information (NFSCORE), and twenty-eight scores of financial information (FSCORE). The detail about these information lists is available in Appendix A.

Skimming through the Panel A of Table 2, the mean of the DSCORE is 49.65 which is over fifty percent, as well as the SSCORE, NFSCORE, and the FSCORE. Additionally, compared with some dual-listing Chinese firms, the level of information disclosure within these Toronto Stock Exchange listed companies is considerable. As Wang, Sewon and Claiborne (2008) have referred in the article, with substantially higher pressure suffered by dual-listing Chinese firms, they would not prefer to disclose non-financial information in Hong Kong market. However, non-financial information is one of vital elements concentrated by investors to assess a company's sustainability in the long-term period. Therefore, it indicates for us that the regulatory of disclosed information in Canada or North America is more convincing and splendid.

Although the mean of the information disclosure is cogent, the high

standard deviation of that, 15.95, is worried. It suggests that some companies disclose much information but some ones expose only a little. More specially, the high standard deviation arises from the large fluctuation on the disclosed non-financial information, 9.57. Therefore, according to the above result, I put forward a hypothesis that non-financial has more impact on the firm's risk exposure. The statement will be verified and explained by the regression model later in the chapter.

Table 4.1

Summary statistics for the RISK & VOLUNTARY DISCLOSURE model

Panel A: Descriptive statistics for 146 observations

Variable	Mean	Std. Dev.	Minimum	Maximum
Z-SCORE	3.77	9.97	-6.35	67.32
MATVAL	9.23	1.48	6.60	12.41
LEV	6.14	10.56	-11.32	90.22
DSCORE	49.65	15.95	17	75
SSCORE	5.85	1.78	1	8
NFSCORE	26.65	9.57	7	41
FSCORE	17.15	6.08	6	28
ROA	0.04	0.11	-0.34	0.72

COD	0.03	0.08	0	0.96
ROE	0.12	0.30	-1.53	2.04
EPS	1.64	2.30	-2.91	18.05

Panel B of Table 4.1 reveals results of pairwise correlations with significant level for each key variable. Every pairwise presents two value. The upper one is the correlation coefficient and the underneath one is the P-value about the significance on the individual variable. It means that if the P-value is less than 0.10, 0.05, or 0.01, then the value is significant in the 10%, 5%, or 1%, respectively. The matrix has suggested the significance at 1%level using the symbol star "*".

Coefficient of Correlation (r) is a quantitative concept to explain the relationship between random variables. The strength of relationship can be measured within the numerical value ranges from +1.0 to -1.0.

Generally speaking, r>0 suggests positive relationship, r<0 explains negative relationship. Meanwhile, r=0 points these variables are not related or not dependent. In addition, r=+1 and r=-1 indicate a perfect positive correlation and perfect negative correlation, respectively. The closer the coefficients are to

+1.0 and -1.0, the greater is the strength of the relationship between the variables (Amit May 2, 2009).

Turning to the correlation matrix resulted from our study, it indicates that every individual information disclosure (DSCORE, SSCORE, NFSCORE, and FSCORE) is related with risk exposure (Z-score) and negatively associated with it at 1% significant level. Specially, non-financial information is the most strongly and negatively associated with the risk exposure. No matter what the characteristic of the relationship they have, the existence of the associated relation has proved. Next, according to the comprehensive results arising from the four regressions by STATA computer system, I will analyze the situation related to the hypotheses.

Panel B: Correlation matrix

. pwcorr zscore dscore sscore nfscore fscore firmsize leverage roa cod roe eps, si > g star(1)

	zscore	dscore	sscore	nfscore	fscore	firmsize	leverage
zscore	1.0000						
dscore	-0.3277* 0.0001	1.0000					
sscore	-0.2896* 0.0004	0.7798* 0.0000	1.0000				
nfscore	-0.3983* 0.0000	0.9588* 0.0000	0.7282* 0.0000	1.0000			
fscore	-0.1477 0.0753	0.8855* 0.0000	0.6062* 0.0000	0.7276* 0.0000	1.0000		
firmsize	-0.2433* 0.0031	0.6780* 0.0000	0.5383* 0.0000	0.6380* 0.0000	0.6166* 0.0000	1.0000	
leverage	-0.1949 0.0184	0.4367* 0.0000	0.3610* 0.0000	0.3697* 0.0000	0.4579* 0.0000	0.5578* 0.0000	1.0000
roa	0.1079 0.1949	-0.0519 0.5337	-0.0439 0.5989	-0.0886 0.2875	0.0162 0.8464	-0.1428 0.0856	-0.1300 0.1178
cod	0.1639 0.0480	-0.1219 0.1429	-0.2105 0.0108	-0.1150 0.1669	-0.0769 0.3561	-0.1652 0.0463	-0.0633 0.4477
roe	-0.0155 0.8523	0.0793 0.3416	0.0369 0.6580	0.0469 0.5739	0.1233 0.1382	0.0017 0.9837	-0.0701 0.4002
eps	-0.1157 0.1644	0.2258* 0.0061	0.2061 0.0126	0.1640 0.0479	0.2737* 0.0008	0.3486* 0.0000	0.3688* 0.0000
	roa	cod	roe	eps			
roa	1.0000						
cod	0.1356 0.1026	1.0000					
roe	0.6613* 0.0000	0.2807* 0.0006	1.0000				
eps	0.2267* 0.0059	-0.1096 0.1880	0.2159* 0.0089	1.0000			

4.1.2. Multivariate analysis

The comprehensive regression consequences from four regressions have been summed up and classified, which identify with the six hypotheses, displaying in the following Table 3. I draw some conclusions and discover a few problems as well.

Looking through the all four panels. I find that the value of adjusted R^2 is low. There are two main reasons being associated with the outcome. First is the whole economic environment. Over the period from 2008 to 2009, financial crisis swept the widespread financial market. The fluctuation and uncertainty of the market was huge which triggered the circumstance of individual company and even the whole industry in confusion. When viewing the 150 financial reports about the 50 listed companies on the Toronto Stock Exchange from 2009 to 2011, I perceive that the financial compulsory items like total assets, net operating income, and liabilities vary much within a company lasting 3 years and across nearly all the observations. What is more, compared with the market price and book value of per share, the difference is large since the economic environment makes it difficult to estimate the trend for the next period. As a consequence, the test variables like ROE, EPS, and the elements used to

calculate the Z-score are not ideal so that the fit of goodness is not perfect. The second cause can be due to the problems arising from the individual company. A bit mistakes occur in the consolidated financial statement. For instance, as the regulator code, mandatory disclosure of the company's financial position should last 2 years. However, the same period value of total asset or others showing in the 2009 annual report is different from that in the 2010 annual report, which brings trouble to collect data and the final results. Because of the two reasons, the goodness of fit for the model is harmfully impacted.

In terms of the relationship between the information disclosure and firms' risk exposure related to the hypotheses, some summarized results are come out as follows.

Panel A explains the relationship between risk exposure and total information disclosure. The results can verify the validity of first hypothesis (H1): the extent of voluntary disclosure for listed companies is related to the firms' risk exposure.

The correlation coefficient, r, is -0.18, in which the sign of "-" indicates that the information disclosure is negatively associated with the firms' risk exposure but the strength is not very significant. In another word, if the company discloses one item of information less than before, then its Z-score will increase by 0.18 and it will be safer.

Table 4.2

Regression results of the relationship model

Panel A: the relationship between risk exposure and total information disclosure

Goodness of fit				
Adjusted R ²		0.1005		
F statistics		3.31*		
Intercept		9.80		
		(6.05)		
	Expected sign	Z-score	Significance	
Independent variab	bles			
DSCORE	-	-0.18	0.06*	
MKTVAL	+	0.32	0.094	
LEV	-	-0.06	0.09	
ROA	+	16.62	10.20	
COD	+	17.63	10.23***	
ROE	-	-4.81	3.63	
EPS	-	-0.16	0.40	

^{*, **, ***} indicate the correlation coefficient is significant at the 0.01, 0.05, and 0.10level, respectively.

The result from Panel B aims to check the second hypothesis (H2): the extent of risk exposure in the listed companies increases with higher proportion of strategy information disclosure. The correlation coefficient is -1.09, which presents the strongest negative relationship between the two objective variables compared with the other three pairwise relationships. The regression results also suggest that company's public less strategic information and then its Z-score will be higher and the situation is safer. The result supports our hypothesis (H2), since the higher is the Z-score, the less risk exposure the firm has.

Panel B: the relationship between risk exposure and strategic information disclosure

Goodness of fit					
Adjusted R ²		0.0825			
F statistics		2.86*			
Intercept	12.97				
	(6.05)**				
	Expected sign	Z-score	Significance		
Independent variables					
SSCORE	-	-1.09	0.54**		

MKTVAL	-	-0.29	0.74***
LEV	-	-0.07	0.10
ROA	+	16.78	10.30
COD	+	15.65	10.48
ROE	-	-5.3	3.65
EPS	-	0.11	0.40

^{*, **, ***} indicate the correlation coefficient is significant at the 0.01, 0.05, and 0.10level, respectively.

According to the Panel C, we can identify that the negative relationship also apply for the risk exposure and non-financial information disclosure. It means that the more a firm disclosure non-financial information to outside, the bigger risk exposure it will undertake. This conclusion is accordance with the third hypothesis (H3): the extent of risk exposure in the listed companies increases with higher proportion of non-financial information.

Panel C: the relationship between risk exposure and non-financial information disclosure

Goodness of fit

Adjusted R ²	0.1539				
F statistics	4.77*				
Intercept	7.74				
	(5.91)				
	Expected sign	Z-score	Significance		
Independent variables					
NFSCORE	-	-0.42	0.10*		
MKTVAL	+	0.81	0.78		
LEV	-	0.07	0.09		
ROA	+	15.44	9.90		
COD	+	17.29	9.91***		
ROE	-	-4.53	3.51		
EPS	-	-0.25	0.39		

^{*, **, ***} indicate the correlation coefficient is significant at the 0.01, 0.05, and 0.10level, respectively.

Panel D indicates the relationship between risk exposure and financial information disclosure and this result is the only one opposite to the hypothesis (H4): the extent of risk exposure in the listed companies increases with higher

proportion of financial information.

Although the sign of the correlation coefficient illustrates that if one company publish more financial information, then it will suffer less risk, yet it is not significant at 1%, 5%, or 10% significant level. Consequently, this conclusion cannot be explained well and their relationship need to an advanced study employing a more exact method.

Panel D: the relationship between risk exposure and financial information disclosure

Goodness of fit					
Adjusted R ²	0.0558				
F statistics	2.22**				
Intercept	12.41				
	(6.16)**				
	Expected sign	Z-score	Significance		
Independent variables					
FSCORE	+	0.04	0.17		
MKTVAL	-	-0.98	0.79		
LEV	-	-0.09	0.098		
ROA	+	16.59	10.46		

COD	+	19.42	10.46***
ROE	-	-5.97	3.71
EPS	-	-0.08	0.41

^{*, **, ***} indicate the correlation coefficient is significant at the 0.01, 0.05, and 0.10level, respectively.

Finally, we discuss some findings related to other test variables. Viewing the four tested, cost of debt (COD) is positively and significantly associated with the firms' risk exposure. We can understand it as the more cost of debt an individual firm suffers, the less risk it must undertake since the higher Z-score suggests the less possibility the firm will be bankruptcy.

Another interesting finding points that return on asset (ROA) is positively related to the firms' risk exposure. However, return on equity (ROE) and earning per share (EPS) present a negative relationship between the two objective variables. It means that the less ROA, but more ROE and EPS will result in less risk exposure or higher Z-score.

Chapter 5

Conclusions and Recommendations

This paper investigates the relationship between information disclosure and the firms' risk exposure with a focus on the Canadian financial services industry and the companies listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

50 listed companies in the sector of financial services were selected and over a 3 year period (2009-2011) annual reports were read to find the responding information by the index items. After regressing the pre-decided model, we can summarize the conclusion. The goodness of fit, R^2 , is low. Since the financial crisis and the problems in the inter-company, the values of variables fluctuate much and outliers driving from the model impact the available of the model. 2) The information disclosure is negative related to the firms' risk exposure. 3) The extent of firms' risk exposure in the listed companies' decreases with less strategic information disclosed to public. 4) The more non-financial information is published to outside by companies, the more risk these companies should undertake. 5) A higher Z-score can arise from more financial information disclosed. 6) COD and ROA is positively associated with the risk exposure. However, 7) ROE and EPS is negatively associated with risk exposure.

There are several limitations of this study, and future research can be developed and optimized the analysis in some degree. First, my observations are limited. 50 listed companies cannot represent the overall financial service industry. More firms could be investigated to enhance the accuracy. Second, only one form of disclosure channel, namely the annual report, is searched. I could focus on additional vehicles of announcement about disclosure. Finally, I could keep away from the crisis environment and choose a stable period to study again. In accordance with comparison, an evidential explanation would be provided and the analysis would be improved.

References

Ail, A., Ronen, J., and Li, S. H. (1994). Discretionary disclosures in response to intra- industry information transfer. *Journal of Accounting Auditing and Finance*, 9, 265-282.

Abrams, C., J, v. K., Müller, S., Pfitzmann, B., and Ruschka-Taylor, S. (2007).

Optimized enterprise risk management. *IBM Systems Journal, 46*(2), 219-234.

Retrieved from

http://search.proquest.com/docview/222427462?accountid=13908

Agarwal, V. and Taffler, R.J. (2007), "Twenty-five years of the taffler Z score model: does it really have predictive ability?", Accounting & Business Research, Vol. 37 No. 4, pp. 285-300.

Altman, E. I. (1968). "Financial Ratios, Discriminant Analysis and the Prediction of Corporate Bankruptcy". *Journal of Finance*: 189–209.

Bradbury, M. (1992). Voluntary disclosure of financial segment data: New Zealand evidence. *Accounting and Finance*, 32, 15–26.

Calandro, J. (2007), "Considering the utility of Altman's Z score as a strategic assessment and performance management tool", Emerald Group Publishing Limited, Strategic & Leadership, Vol. 35 No. 5, pp. 37-43.

Choudhury, A. (2009). Statistical Correlation. Retrieved from: http://explorable.com/statistical-correlation.

Chow, C. W. and Wong-Boren, A. (1987, July), Voluntary Financial disclosure by Mexican corporations. *The Accounting Review*, 533–541.

Christopher, S. Armstrong, W. R. Guay, and Joseph P. Weber. September 30, 2010 'The Role of Information and Financial Reporting in Corporate Governance and Debt Contracting'

Cooke, T. E., and Wallace, R. S. O. (1989). Global survey of corporate disclosure practices and audit firms: A Review Essay. *Accounting and Business Research*, 20, 47–57.

Firth, M. (1979). The impact of size, stock market listing, and auditors on voluntary disclosure in corporate annual reports. *Accounting and Business*

Research, 9, 273-280.

Grossman, S. J. (1981, December). The informational rule of warrants and private disclosure about product quality. *Journal of Law and Economics*, 461-484.

Henriques. A (2010). The reporting of non-financial information in annual reports by the

FTSE100. International Accounting, Auditing and Taxation 17 (2008) 14–30.

Hossain, M., Tan, L. M., and Adams, M. (1994). Voluntary disclosure in an emergeng capital market: Some empirical evidence from companies listed on Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange. *The International Journal of Accounting*, 29, 334-351.

Hughes, P. J. (1989). Singaling by direct disclosure under asymmetric information. *Journal of Accounting and Econimics*, 8, 119-142.

Jensen, M.C., Jensen, M. C., and Meckling, W. H. (1976). Theory of the firm, managerial ownership, agency cost and ownership structure. *Journal of Financial*

Economics, 3, 305-361.

Leftwich, R. W., Watts, R. L., and Zimmerman, J. L. (1981). Voluntary corporate disclosure: The case of interim reporting. *Journal of Accounting Research* (Supplement), 50-77.

Meek, G., Roberts, C. B., and Gray, S. J. (1995). Factors influencing voluntary annual report disclosures by U.S., U. K and continental European multinational corporations. *Journal of International Business Studies (3rd quarter)*, 555–572.

Obaid, S., H. A. Z. (2011). Potential for the application of emerging market Z-score in UAE Islamic banks. *International Journal of Islamic and Middle Eastern Finance and Management, 4*(2), 158-173. Retrieved from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/17538391111144498

Sengupta, P. (1998). Corporate disclosure quality and the cost of debt. *The Accounting Review*, 73(4), 459–474.

Skinner, D. J. (1994). Why do firms voluntarily disclose bad news. Journal of Accounting Research, 32, 38-60.

Spence, M. (1973). Job market signaling. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 87, 355-379.

Wang, K., Sewon, O., Claiborne, C. M. (2008), 'Determinants and consequences of voluntary disclosure in an emerging market: Evidence from China'. *Journal of International Accounting, Auditing and Taxation*, 17 (2008) 14-30.

Appendix A. Voluntary disclosure items

General corporate characteristics

- 1. Organizational structure
- 2. Physical output and capacity utilization

Corporate strategy

- 3. Statement of strategy and objectives-general
- 4. Statement of strategy and objectives-financial
- 5. Statement of strategy and objectives-marketing
- 6. Statement of strategy and objectives-social
- 7. Description of marketing network-domestic
- 8. Description of marketing network-foreign

Acquisitions and disposals

- 9. Reasons for acquisitions
- 10. Financing detail of acquisition
- 11. Reasons for disposals
- 12. Considerations received on disposal
- 13. Discussion of future business opportunity of disposal
- 14. Future capital expenditure

Research and development

- 15. Corporate policy on R&D
- 16. Number employed in R&D
- 17. Forecast of R&D expense
- 18. Discussion of new product development

Future prospects

- 19. Qualitative forecast of sales
- 20. Quantitative forecast of sales
- 21. Qualitative forecast of profits
- 22. Quantitative forecast of profits
- 23. Qualitative forecast of cash flows
- 24. Quantitative forecast of cash flows
- 25. Assumption underlying forecasts
- 26. Factors affecting future business-political
- 27. Factors affecting future business-economical
- 28. Factors affecting future business-technological
- 29. Rate of return expected on projects

Employee information

- 30. Geographical distribution of employees
- 31. Categories of employees by gender

- 32. Recruitment information
- 33. Reasons for changes in employee number or categories
- 34. Policy on employees trained
- 35. Amount spend on training
- 36. Number of employee trained
- 37. Employee appreciation
- 38. Data on accidents
- 39. Cost of safety measures
- 40. Discussion of employee welfare
- 41. Equal opportunity policy statement
- 42. Effects of employee welfare

Social responsibility and value-added disclosure

- 43. Environment protection programs-quantitative
- 44. Environment protection programs-qualitative
- 45. Charitable donations (amount)
- 46. Community programs (general.)

Segment information

- 47. Competitor analysis
- 48. Market share analysis-qualitative
- 49. Discussion of industry trends-prior

- 50. Discussion of industry trends-future
- 51. Proportion of raw materials purchase local

Financial review information

- 52. Cash flow ratios
- 53. Liquidity ratios
- 54. Gearing ratios
- 55. Return on capital employed
- 56. Other ratios
- 57. Aging of receivables (debtors)
- 58. Breakdown and analysis of operating expenses
- 59. Breakdown and analysis of administrative expenses
- 60. Breakdown of operating expenses into fixed/variable.
- 61. Index of selling prices
- 62. Index of sales volume
- 63. Index of raw materials prices
- 64. Disclosure in intangible valuations (expect goodwill and brands)
- 65. Dividend payout policy
- 66. Financial history or summary-six or more year.
- 67. Off-balance sheet financing information
- 68. Advertising information-qualitative

- 69. Advertising information-quantitative
- 70. Effects of interest rates on results
- 71. Effects of interest rates on future operations

Foreign currency information

- 72. Effects of foreign currency fluctuations on future operations-qualitative
- 73. Major exchange rates used in the accounts
- 74. Effect of exchange rates on current performance
- 75. Effect of exchange rate on future performance
- 76. Foreign currency exposure management description

Stock/price information

- 77. Market capitalization at year end
- 78. Market capitalization trend
- 79. Geographic distribution of shareholder